

University of Nebraska Medical Center DigitalCommons@UNMC

Theses & Dissertations

Graduate Studies

Spring 5-7-2016

Role of Stemloop D in Terminally Deleted Coxsackievirus B3 Replication

Lee K. Jaramillo University of Nebraska Medical Center

Tell us how you used this information in this short survey.

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.unmc.edu/etd

Part of the Laboratory and Basic Science Research Commons, Molecular Biology Commons, and the Virology Commons

Recommended Citation

Jaramillo, Lee K., "Role of Stemloop D in Terminally Deleted Coxsackievirus B3 Replication" (2016). *Theses & Dissertations*. 103. https://digitalcommons.unmc.edu/etd/103

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at DigitalCommons@UNMC. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UNMC. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@unmc.edu.

ROLE OF STEMLOOP D IN TERMINALLY DELETED COXSACKIEVIRUS B3

REPLICATION

by

Lee K. Jaramillo

A THESIS

Presented to the Faculty of the University of Nebraska Graduate College in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

Pathology & Microbiology Graduate Program

Under the Supervision of Professor Nora M. Chapman

University of Nebraska Medical Center Omaha, Nebraska

May 2016

Advisory Committee:

Steven Carson, Ph.D.

Steven Tracy, Ph.D.

Nora Chapman, Ph.D.

Acknowledgement

- First and foremost, I need to thank my mentor Dr. Nora M. Chapman, for her incredible patience and support over the past several years. Through all the trials and tribulations, she remained a rock during an otherwise tumultuous endeavor. There were many times I would have liked to have thrown in the towel, but she never gave up on me and for that I owe her everything.
- I would like to thank my graduate committee members Dr. Steven Tracy and Dr. Steven Carson for their time and advice they willingly provided each time I asked.
- I have to thank Dr. Shane Smithee for his help in both my paper and in the lab.
- Lastly, I'd like to thank my family and lovely wife Jackie Jaramillo. They never gave up on me even when I wanted to.

ROLE OF STEMLOOP D IN TERMINALLY DELETED COXSACKIEVIRUS B3 REPLICATION

Lee K. Jaramillo, M.S.

University of Nebraska, 2016

Advisor: Nora M. Chapman

Coxsackievirus B3 (CVB3) is an enterovirus with no known form of latency. However, assays designed to detect enteroviral RNA have shown that CVB3 RNA can persist for weeks beyond the acute infection both naturally and experimentally. Our previous work with coxsackievirus revealed an inhibited version of enteroviral replication where the progeny virus, termed terminally deleted (TD) virus, was missing a maximum of 49 nucleotides from the beginning of the 5' non-translated region (NTR). The largest terminally deleted virus, TD50, effaced stem a, stemloop b, and stemloop c from the secondary structure, the cloverleaf. We hypothesized that further deletion beyond those first 49 nucleotides (nt) would disrupt stemloop d and prevent alternative binding of replicative machinery to the point of lethality. Plasmid DNA designed to create functional wildtype CVB3, was used as a template to create two novel constructs: TD57 and TD78. The mutant plasmids would transcribe infectious viral RNA missing up to 56nt and 77nt from the start of the 5' NTR respectively. After transcription, the mutant RNA was transfected into HeLa cells and incubated for three days. Using RT-PCR we prove that despite the loss of stemloop d, these CVB3-TDs replicated and produced infectious encapsidated viral RNA.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS		
ABSTRACT	iv	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi	
LIST OF FIGURES	vii	
LIST OF TABLES	vii	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	viii	
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1	
What is an enterovirus	1	
History of Disease	1	
Enteroviral infection and life cycle	3	
Translation and processing	4	
P1	5	
P2	5	
P3	6	
Wildtype Replication	6	
VPg	6	
3D	7	
Circularization	7	
Replicative Form	8	
Replicative Intermediate	8	
Terminally Deleted Viruses	9	
Cloverleaf	9	

Cause of TDs	10
CHAPTER 2: METHODS AND RESULTS	10
Generating the Terminally Deleted Viruses	10
Hypothesis	10
Growing the Starting Plasmid	12
Cloning TD57	17
Culturing HeLa Cells	18
Transfection and Infection of TD57	19
Detecting the Terminally Deleted Viruses Post-Transfection	20
Viral Preparation from HeLa Cells	20
RT-PCR and PCR for Viral RNA	21
TD78	22
CHAPTER 3: DISCUSSION	23

LIST OF FIGURES

1.	Enterovirus life cycle	3
2.	Genome organization	4
3.	Cloverleaf	11
4.	pCMVT7r28 cut by Clal	14
5.	TD57 primer sequences as they apply to the 5' cloverleaf ribozyme	15
6.	TD78 primer sequences as they apply to the 5' cloverleaf ribozyme	15
7.	Haell digested TD57/TD78	18
8.	S5/SReturn PCR used to identify TD57	21
9.	Secondary 6-well plate for TD57	22
10.	S5/SReturn PCR with TD78	23
11.	Secondary 6-well plate for TD78	23

LIST OF TABLES

1.	List of primers used to create and verify the mutant viruses	16
----	--	----

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

PVR	poliovirus receptor
IRES	internal ribosomal entry site
VPg	viral protein genome linked
RdRp	RNA dependent RNA polymerase
РАВР	poly A binding protein
CRE	cis-acting replication element
hnRNP C	heterogeneous ribonuclear protein C
RF	replicative form
RI	replicative intermediate
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
SAP	shrimp alkaline phosphatase
FBS	fetal bovine serum
RT	reverse transcription

Chapter 1: Introduction

What is an Enterovirus

Enteroviruses belong to the family Picornaviridae. The enterovirus genus comprises 12 viral species including the prototypical enterovirus, Poliovirus. These viruses are classified according to serotype or the ability for neutralizing antibody to affect an isolated virus often identified by the most conserved genetic sequence of the capsid structure [1-3]. Enteroviruses contain only one copy of a single stranded positive sense RNA molecule within a naked icosahedral capsid [4]. The capsid structure consists of 60 protomers made from 3 viral proteins. The capsid structure includes a canyon depression which is the site of the virus interaction with the host cell receptor [5, 6]. Interaction with the receptor causes a conformational change allowing the genome to egress into the host cytoplasm where translation, replication, and assembly of the viral particle will occur.

History of disease

Enterovirus infection can cause a range of diseases based on the infected organ, such as non-septic febrile illness, respiratory illness, acute hemorrhagic conjunctivitis, type 1 diabetes, myocarditis, meningitis, pancreatitis, paralytic poliomyelitis, and dilated cardiomyopathy to name a few [4]. In temperate regions of the world CVB infections mainly occur during the summer and fall, but can vary depending on the serotype [4, 7-11]. Coxsackievirus B 1, 3, and 4 exhibit an epidemic pattern where activity can increase at irregular patterns [12, 13]. Still, coxsackievirus infections are generally asymptomatic or subclinical [4].

The most notable disease, paralytic poliomyelitis, is contracted from poliovirus which is a virus with a long history in medicine. The first documented case of polio was by the physician Michael Underwood in 1789 when he was treating a young child for paralytic poliomyelitis [14]. Paralytic poliomyelitis is one of the more severe diseases that enterovirus can cause, but most of the research regarding the disease did not come until an epidemic of polio broke out in the late 19th century. It is believed that the cause of this outbreak was from an increase in public sanitation which in turn caused the general population to encounter the virus for the first time at a later age [15]. Prior to this time typical infection was between the age of 0 and 12 months old, a time when protective antibodies acquired from the mother were still circulating [15].

Research into the epidemic and the disease resulted in a number of landmark discoveries, one of which being the virus itself by Landsteiner and Popper [16]. Discovery of the viral agent furthered research in this area which would later bring about the polio vaccine. The first polio vaccine developed for human protection was an inactivated form of the virus by Salk [4]. This first vaccine was an incredible step on the road to polio eradication and was only bolstered by the discovery of a live form of the polioviruses by Sabin [4]. The live form of the virus was heavily attenuated, but still sufficiently replicated for a robust immune response. The normal processes of the virus could continue without affecting the host, which in turn generated a much more robust immune reaction that could last longer than the inactivated form of the vaccine could create [4]. Since advent of the vaccine there are now only three countries that have never interrupted transmission of the wildtype virus [17].

Despite our success in vaccination attempts, there are still many enteroviruses for which there are no vaccines and still affect millions of people annually. The virus is typically transferred via fecal-oral tract and can cause illness in the upper and lower respiratory system. Coxsackievirus A16 is the most common cause of hand, foot, and mouth disease in the United States and Coxsackievirus A24 along with enterovirus 70 have been associated with outbreaks of conjunctivitis. Echovirus, specifically 13, 18, and 30 have caused outbreaks of viral meningitis in the United States which can be life threatening. In regards to the rest of the world, enterovirus 71 has caused large outbreaks of hand, foot, and mouth, including cases of neurologic disease, worldwide and enterovirus D68 caused a nationwide outbreak in 2014 in the United States [18]. Infections with the virus are acute events, but under the right conditions can become chronic in a persistent infection [19]. In cases where myocarditis was ruled the cause of death in human patients, enteroviral RNA was often recovered when checked [20, 21].



Enteroviral Infection and Life Cycle

Figure 1: Brief overview of the enterovirus life cycle.

Receptor structure can vary from virus to virus, such as with poliovirus and coxsackievirus that use immunoglobulin like receptors, [5] but minor group human rhinoviruses can use VLDL-R for a receptor [22-24]. Each enterovirus species uses a host receptor that causes a conformational change of the capsid allowing the virus to be internalized via endocytosis and release the genome from the capsid. Rossman proposed that the receptor binds into a canyon structure found on the surface of the virus, as in coxsackievirus that encircle each twelve 5-fold vertex, each being inaccessible to the host immune system [6]. In the case of coxsackievirus B, binding of the CAR receptor can be preceded by binding of a secondary receptor known as DAF or CD55 which can aid in the binding of CAR [25-27]. In poliovirus a similar interaction takes place using Poliovirus Receptor (PVR) [28].

The interaction with the enterovirus with its receptor leads to the formation of the Aparticle that is characterized by a partial exposure of the RNA and release of the internal VP4 from the virus [29, 30]. Enteroviral particles have been shown to internalize using a number of methods. CVB3 has been shown to internalize using clathrin [31], whereas CVB4 has shown internalization using a lipid raft [32], and CVB3-RD variant that uses DAF, internalization using caveolin-1 [25]. It is believed that the egress of the genome into the cytoplasm is accomplished using the viral protein 4 that is internally located until the cellular receptor binding event [33-35]. Eventual translation and replication of the viral genome will allow for packaging and release from the host cell.



Translation and Processing

Figure 2: Genome organization of Coxsackievirus and subsequent protein processing [36].

4

Upon entry of the host cytoplasm, the RNA is translated via a cap-independent mechanism by host ribosomes using an Internal Ribosome Entry Sequence (IRES)[5]. This type of RNA structure is not unique to enteroviruses, varies from species to species, but all act as a way to guide the host ribosomal machinery to the site of initiation without the presence of a cap structure. Only one open reading frame exists in the small viral genome and from it a number of structural and nonstructural proteins are expressed. The open reading frame is divided into three general regions: P1, P2, and P3 with P2 broken down further to A-C and P3 A-D.

Ρ1

From P1 come the capsid proteins, while P2 and P3 create a variety of nonstructural proteins used to replicate the genome. When translated, P1 will generate VP1, VP3, and VP0. VP0 will eventually be cleaved into VP4 and VP2 via a catalytic post-packaging step during viral assembly [5]. The structural proteins VP1, VP2, VP3, and VP4 are used to make the viral capsid. VP1, VP0, and VP3, will combine to make a protomer. This single protomer combines with other protomers to complete the capsid, which upon forming, undergoes an autocatalytic cleavage to then form VP2 and VP4 with VP2 on the outside and VP4 on the inside. The final infectious capsid contains the viral protein genome-linked (VPg) covalently linked to the viral genome, with which the RNA will be primed for transcription using a virally encoded RNA dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp)[5].

P2

P2 proteins mainly aid in the processing of the viral genome and remodeling of the host cell. The first P2 protein translated is protein 2A which is a cysteine protease that cleaves the junction between P1 and P2 after translation [37]. 2A also cleaves eIF4G, host nucleoporins, Poly A Binding Protein (PABP), and TBP: a number of host factors that naturally promote the creation of host proteins and when cleaved can still be used by the enterovirus for translation and replication [38]. Viral protein 2B or 2BC disrupts the Golgi complex and secretory pathway, but also plays a role in virally produced membranous vesicles that has yet to be fully elucidated [39]. 2C has ATPase activity, RNA helicase activity, chaperone activity, and encapsidation involvement [40]. These functions of 2C^{ATPase} have been shown to be critical in vitro in enterovirus 71 and coxsackievirus A 16 [41, 42].

Ρ3

The proteins of P3 are directly involved in the replication of the genome. The P3 region is processed in two ways: the major and minor pathway. The major pathway yields proteins 3AB and 3CD. The protein 3AB has been shown to stimulate the activity of the RNA dependent RNA polymerase [43-45], but also may play a role in the formation of vesicles. Protein 3CD is a protease used to cleave the polyprotein and an RNA binding protein PABP [46, 47]. Translation via the minor pathway yields proteins 3A and 3BCD. 3A has been shown to disrupt the trafficking of the ER to Golgi signaling, while 3BCD will be further processed into 3B, 3C, and 3D [39, 48-50]. While 3C is the major protease that processes P2 and P3 proteins, 3D the RdRp, and 3B (or VPg) are intimately involved in the replication of the viral genome.

Wildtype Replication

VPg

Protein 3B is the protein primer used in transcription of the RNA genome during replication. Before priming replication, VPg is first uridylylated using the RdRp and a Cis-acting Replication Element (CRE) as a template [51]. In coxsackievirus, 3CD will bind the stem of the CRE structure located in the 2C region and 3D with VPg attached will "read" the AA residue found in the loop of the CRE. The CRE structure can be located in a number of different areas, taking on different shapes and sizes, but will always have a double adenine with which it can prime the addition of the uracil to VPg [52]. Addition of the uridine nucleotides to VPg is believed to be accomplished by 3D using a slide-back mechanism [51]. Once the UU is added to the VPg, it can be used as a primer and anneal to the 3' terminal AA of the negative strand viral RNA.

3D

Viral genome replication requires the function of the RNA dependent RNA polymerase or 3D. 3D is processed from P3 and again from 3CD [53]. 3D is essential for VPg uridylylation [54], initiation of the strands of viral RNA, and elongation of the viral RNA during viral RNA synthesis [55]. 3D polymerase is able to effectively transcribe the positive stranded viral RNA to create a negative strand that can then be used as a template for additional positive strands of viral RNA [56]. Enteroviral RdRp's have the same overall shape as other polymerases and have a right-hand conformation with a thumb, finger, and palm domain [57]. More to the point, rhinovirus, poliovirus, and coxsackievirus have very similar 3D structures [58]. The 3D fingersdomain is important for maintaining stable and processive elongation and is involved in binding incoming template RNA [59]. While flavivirus 3D can initiate polymerization de novo, poliovirus and coxsackievirus need VPg as a primer and by binding the protein primer with uridylylated 3B, the negative strand of viral RNA is first transcribed [60].

Circularization

VPg will prime the replication process, but both ends of the viral RNA and the interacting proteins are required to be in close proximity of one another and it is believed that this is accomplished by circularizing the positive strand [56]. Computer mapping of the 7500nt genome show complicated structures from beginning to end. Three locations in particular have

seen increased interest, in relation to replication, due to the complicated secondary structures that they form and the direct contribution to the efficient viral replication: 5' cloverleaf, 3' cloverleaf, and the CRE. A ternary complex composed of 3D, 3CD, Heterogeneous nuclear ribonuclear protein (hnRNP C), Poly-C Binding Protein, and domain I of the 5' end of the positive strand forms to allow interaction of the 5' end and 3' end PABP which binds multimers of adenine such as the polyA tract of the genome [61-63]. The VPg bound 3D associates with the 3' end of the positive stranded RNA and begins elongation of the negative strand. The first round of transcription yields the negative strand of viral RNA and will be the new template for a number of positive strands. The new negative strand and template positive strand form a heteroduplex of positive and negative stranded viral RNA [64, 65].

Replicative Form

This duplex creates the hypothetical heteroduplexed positive and negative strand of viral RNA termed the replicative form (RF) which is produced in the stage before exponential viral RNA replication [64, 65]. It is believed that a combination of host proteins and viral proteins are involved to unwind the RF, namely the ternary complex, 2C, and hnRNP C [56]. Newly uridylylated VPg attached to 3D, 2C, and hnRNP C proteins bind the newly synthesized 3' end of the negative strand RNA while the ternary complex reforms on the 5' end of the positive strand in the heteroduplexed RF [62, 66]. While the mechanism of action has yet to be fully elucidated, the RF is unwound making room for binding of the uridylylated VPg bound 3D to begin elongation [67].

Replicative Intermediate

Elongation of the new positive strand begins at this point, but before completion of the first strand of positive stranded RNA, it is hypothesized that multiple positive strands of RNA are

initiated on that same negative strand of RNA, creating a new structure of RNA referred to as the replicative intermediate (RI) [56]. Formation of the RI begins an exponential generation of newly synthesized positive stranded viral RNA. The ratio of positive to stranded RNA has been demonstrated to be 40:1 to 70:1 with the newly synthesized strands being used for transcription, translation, or packaging into empty capsids [68, 69].

Terminally Deleted Viruses

The wildtype enteroviral replication process described above is an acute event, with symptoms and viral titers both climaxing and clearing in a few days [70]. That being said, enteroviral RNA or protein has been detected in patients presented with heart maladies [71-74]. Furthermore, coxsackievirus infection in mice can persist for long periods of time, even months, when infected with cardiovirulent strains [75-78]. It is believed that this persistent infection is permitted due to low-levels of replication averting detection by the host immune system. These naturally occurring enteroviruses were first identified in coxsackievirus B and shown to have a number of deletions to domain I, more specifically, the cloverleaf [79].

Cloverleaf

The positive stranded EV RNA is flanked on each side by 5' and 3' non-translated regions that naturally form a number of secondary structures like the IRES and CRE, but also the aforementioned cloverleaf structure in domain I [80]. The cloverleaf, which typically is the binding site of the ternary complex in efficient replication, is modified in the case of the TDs. Terminally deleted viruses are shown to have a number of deletions on the cloverleaf structure with the largest being the removal of the first 49nt [79]. Because these viruses suffer the formation of an incomplete cloverleaf they are not found under normal experimental conditions possibly because they are outcompeted by wildtype replication. The initial replicative event causing the creation of these TDs is thought to be an inaccurate initiation event during positive strand synthesis. Research has shown TDs generated in mice and in cell cultures lacking hnRNP C such as cardiomyocytes and pancreas islets [81].

Cause of TDs

As previously mentioned, hnRNP C is hypothesized to be involved in the initiation of the positive strand synthesis by unwinding of the RF. Inefficient priming of the new positive strands drops the ratio of positive to negative strands closer to 1:1 [79]. The positive to negative strand ratio is heavily unbalanced in efficient replication of the virus as stated earlier. The deletions found in these experiments affect only stem a, stemloop b, and stemloop c. Deletion into stemloop d has not been shown; possibly because stemloop d contains essential structural rearrangements critical to viral propagation. 3CD has already been shown to bind stemloop d and PCBP poly C region just beyond the opposite half of stem A [61-63]. This association led us to hypothesize that the structures such as the di-nucleotide bulge, the non-canonical base pairs, or the apical tetra loop are the minimum requirements for CVB replication. Our experiments show that deletion beyond the first 49nt produces viable virus: new TDs with further decreased replicative events. Removal of the di-nucleotide bulge and the complete elimination of stemloop d does not prevent CVB replication.

Chapter 2: Methods and Results

Generating the Terminally Deleted Viruses

Hypothesis:

The examination of size of TD genome deletions was assessed in several studies [79, 82, 83] and no larger deletions than 49nt were found.



Figure 3: Stemloop d of domain I folded into the secondary structure known as the cloverleaf with the projected deletions noted by arrows.

As shown in the figure above, the 5' end of the CVB3 genome is shaped much like a cloverleaf, with three stem like structures formed by folding the RNA genome onto itself. Deletion of the first 49nt removes the stem and the first two leaves, but retains the third leaf, stem-loop D untouched. Mutational studies to the structures of the cloverleaf have targeted each of the three structures in stem-loop D [63, 84, 85] and in doing, showed a reduction in positive strand synthesis and a reduction in overall replication. With this in mind, we hypothesized that deletion beyond the first 49nt and into the cloverleaf, would be a lethal mutation. This is supported due to the findings that 3CD binds to stem-loop D [61] as part of the ternary complex. The research conducted as follows will show that deletion of the di-nucleotide bulge and the entire stem-loop D did not eliminate viral replication.

Growing the Starting Plasmid



To generate the deleted cDNA genomes with an upstream T7 RNA polymerase promoter and a ribozyme which would cleave the T7 transcripts correctly, the plasmid pCMVT7r28 [81] was used as the cDNA basis for mutagenesis. The smallest 5' terminal deletion was TD57, where the first 56nt from the 5' end of the genome would be deleted. It was suspected that deleting past the first 50nt would fail to generate any replicating virus. The pCMVT7r28 plasmid was used to create both the fragment and vector of the mutant. E. coli (strain DH5 α) containing the plasmid was grown on LB Broth Miller (Luria-Bertani) plates (prepared according to Becton, Dickinson and Company, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey) coated with 50µg/mL ampicillin. Ampicillin was the selecting agent used to grow the pCMVT7r28 because the strain of *E. coli* used was not resistant to the drug and the plasmid provided the selective resistance. Single colonies would be picked from the plate and cultured in Terrific Broth, allowing for a higher density of bacteria in a shorter time period, (prepared according to Becton, Dickinson and Company, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey) again with 50µg/mL ampicillin. Cultures were processed using the QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (according to QIAGEN, Valencia, CA) where final elution was completed using 50µL DEPC treated sterile water. This kit is a streamlined version of an alkaline lysis where the target genome was purified from the remaining cellular debris using the QIAGEN columns. Plasmid concentration and purity was measured with a spectrophotometer and less than 1µg was run on a 1.0% agarose gel in 1xTAE stained with SYBR® Safe DNA Gel Stain (according to ThermoFisher

Waltham, MA) and visualized using a transilluminator. Two bands running at different positions was indicated relaxed and supercoiled plasmid DNA purified from the bacterial lysate versus bacterial genomic DNA. A larger 100mL Terrific Broth (ThermoFisher Waltham, MA USA) culture was grown from the single picked colony and processed using a QIAGEN Plasmid Purification Midi kit (according to QIAGEN) and eluted with 50µL DEPC treated sterile water. Again the samples were quantified using a spectrophotometer and observed on a 1% agarose gel before continuing. Using the highly concentrated pCMVT7r28, Clal was used to linearize the circular plasmid (New England Biolabs Ipswich, MA) at a site following the poly A tract at the 3' end of the viral cDNA. Once linearized, the plasmid was then purified from enzymes and buffers using a standard ethanol precipitation with a final concentration of 0.625M ammonium acetate, 75% ethanol, and at least 2µL glycogen. The precipitation was then chilled in a -70°C freezer for 30min. The DNA was then pelleted in a centrifuge for 15min at 16,000xg. The supernatant was removed and the remaining pellet was washed twice with 100% Ethanol. DNAs were air dried and suspended in 50µL of DEPC treated water. This standard precipitation protocol was important to remove any buffers and enzymes leftover from the digest that may interact with additional digests or PCR. The final product from the precipitation was run on an agarose gel just as described before to verify that the DNA was cut and all debris was removed. Mobility of the cut DNA would run at approximately 10kbp. Our preparations often contained a smaller bacterial plasmid separate from our product which (uncut) electrophoresed at a mobility similar to a linear 50bp marker.



Image 1: Linearized pCMVT7r28 cut by Clal run on an agarose gel.

The linearized plasmid was then further digested using Pst1 and Not1 (buffer and incubation as recommended by Invitrogen, Grand Island, NY). These two enzymes cut the genome in two places creating a smaller fragment with which to work. This template was used to amplify a product with the following primers (TD57RIBOZ1; E3) using Deep Vent DNA polymerase (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA) to decrease variation generated in polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Cycling followed this protocol: 94°C for 1 minute to denature, 60°C for 1 minute to anneal primers, 72°C for 1 minute to elongate, 35 cycles of 94°C for 30 seconds, 61°C for 30 seconds, 72°C for 40sec, followed by 10 minutes at 72°C to finish any amplified product. Products were analyzed on 2.0% agarose gels in 1X TAE and purified on silica matrix minicolumns (Zymoclean[™] Gel DNA Recovery Kit, Zymo Research, Irvine, CA). The gel recovery kit was preferred over an ethanol precipitation as it was believed that by excising the correct band from the gel would allow for a more purified product.



Figure 4: TD57 primer sequences as they apply to the 5' cloverleaf ribozyme.



Figure 5: TD78 primer sequences as they apply to the 5' cloverleaf ribozyme.

Subsequent amplification of the 0.55kb product with TD57RIBOZ2 and E3 followed the

pervious protocol with the modification of using an annealing temperature of 56°C and eventual

purification using the DNA Clean & Concentrator[™]-5 (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA). The 0.55kb product of the second amplification was extended by amplification with RIBOZPCRT7 and RIBOZRETURN using an annealing temperature of 60.9°C and then purified. This product of 0.56kb contained a 5′ terminal Not1 site and an internal PstI site allowing the generation of a 576bp product by digestion with these enzymes (Invitrogen and New England Biolabs). The digest was run on a 1% agarose gel and the vector band was excised and cleaned using the Zymoclean[™] Gel DNA Recovery Kit with manufacturer recommendations. The vector DNA was then digested with shrimp alkaline phosphatase SAP according to factory recommendations to remove the phosphates still attached to the ends, making the fragment incapable of selfligation. The DNA was then cleaned using the Zymogen DNA Clean & Concentrator[™]-5.

Primer	Sequence
TD57RIBOZ1	ATGAGGCCGAAAGGCCGAAAACCCGGTATCCCGGGTTCGGTATCACGGTACCTTT
	GTGCGCCTG
TD57RIBOZ2	CACTATAGGGCGCGGGGTGATACCCTGATGAGGCCGAAAGGC
TD78RIBOZ1	ATGAGGCCGAAAGGCCGAAAACCCGGTATCCCGGGTTCGCCTGTTTTATACCCCCT CCCCCA
TD78RIBOZ2	CACTATAGGGCGCGGGAAACAGGCCTGATGAGGCCGAAAGGCCGAAAAC
RIBOZPCRT7	GACCGCGGCCGCGTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGCGCGGG
RIBOZRETURN	TCGGTTCCGCTGCAGAGTTGC
PCMVPRIMER	TATATAAGCAGAGCTCTCTGG
E1	CACCGGATGGCCAATCCA
E3	ACACGGACACCCAAAGTAGTCGGTTCC
S5	TATACCCCCTCCCCAACTGTAACTTAG
SReturn	TACACTGGGGTAGTGCTGAGCG

Table 1: A list of the primers used to create and verify the mutant viruses.



pCMVT7r28 was digested with NotI and PstI just as the fragment above, to create the appropriate ends for insertion of the newly generated fragment. This pCMVT7r28 vector and the newly generated TD57 fragment were ligated together using T4 DNA ligase (according to Promega Madison, WI). The ligated product was ethanol precipitated as described above. This plasmid was then transformed into *E. coli* cells using the *Mix & Go* Competent Cells - Strain Zymo 5 α (according to Zymo Research Irvine, CA). DNA was prepared from cultures of individual colonies using the QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit. The DNA isolated from the kit was then digested using HaeII (New England Biolabs Ipswich, MA) and observed by running a 2.0% agarose gel. HaeII was chosen as the restriction enzyme because the resulting agarose gel would show 4 bands (6.2kbp, 1.5kbp, 370bp, and 2.2kbp) while the TD57 and TD78 plasmids would show only 3 bands (1.5kbp, 370bp, and 8.5kbp). While some of the bands would be difficult to observe on a standard gel, the point at which both a 1.5kbp and a 2.2kbp band runs on a 2.0% agarose gel is easily determined.



Image 2: A sample gel showing the results of the Haell digest used to identify TD57 and/or TD78. This particular gel shows all plasmids cut are TD57.

Wells with bands at 10kbp, 1.5kbp, and 0.4kbp were sequenced with primer SReturn. When these samples returned with the correct sequence, the original colonies were grown in 100mL cultures and sequenced a final time using both pCMVPrimer and E1. Primer pCMVPrimer was used to read in the opposite direction and E1 is a primer that is further removed from the 5'NTR with a more familiar sequence.

Culturing HeLa cells

HeLa cells (American Type Culture Collection, Manassas, VA; CCL2) were cultured in 100mm culture dishes at 37°C, 5% CO2 in 10mL of DMEM with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) and 1% gentamycin. FBS is used in media to provide the necessary nutrients needed for continued cell growth while gentamycin provides a selecting agent and means of preventing bacterial and fungal growth. Cells were also cultured in 6-well plates.

Transfection and Infection of TD57



The newly generated TD57 plasmid was linearized using a Clal digest and purified with an ethanol precipitation. The linearized plasmid was then transcribed into RNA using T7 RiboMAX (according to Promega Madison, WI) and purified using a LiCl precipitation (addition of 2µL glycogen and 4M LiCl to a final concentration of 2M at -20°C for 1 hour). RNA was pelleted (16,000xg for 20min), the resulting pellet was washed with 100% EtOH, and finally suspended in sterile DEPC treated water. Transfecting 2µg of RNA into (approximately 3.0x10⁵ cells in each well of a 6-well plate) the HeLa cells was done using Transmessenger Transfection Reagent (according to QIAGEN) per manufacturer's instructions. After transfection, cells were incubated for 3 days. Alongside this transfection, three controls were also transfected: the original pCMVT7r28 plasmid (cut with ClaI) was transcribed, control MS2 bacteriophage RNA, and a water control. The transcribed pCMVT7r28 RNA would act as a positive control since it has been shown that the 28 plasmid generates infectious virus and kills the transfected monolayer. The MS2 RNA can't create bacteriophage without a prokaryotic host and is a control for toxicity from introducing foreign RNA into HeLa cells. Two additional controls were also used, a negative control had no RNA in the transfection mix and the tissue culture control would be a well free from any transfection reagents.

Detecting the Terminally Deleted Virus Post-Transfection



Viral Preparation from HeLa Cells

Virus was prepared from cells by three rounds of freeze-thaw lysis in 500µL 0.1M NaCl. Freeze and thaw of the monolayer causes the cells to lyse. The lysed material was then passed through a 0.22µm filter that allows only the passage of virus and small organelles eliminating intact cells. After filtration, 50µg/mL RNase was added to each tube and incubated for 30min and spun down to degrade cellular RNA (non-encapsidated RNA). The supernatant was then processed with the Direct-zol™ RNA MiniPrep (according to Zymo Research Irvine, CA) without the addition of DNase. Because it was believed that very low levels of viral RNA would be produced additional cleaning steps could reduce the yield and we did not want to risk carry over of DNase in the subsequent reverse transcription (RT) reactions. Trizol was the preferred method of RNA extraction and by using the kit we could eliminate some possible sources of contamination.

RT-PCR and PCR for Viral RNA

The RNA eluted from the column was used in an RT reaction facilitated by the Improm-II kit (according to Promega Madison, WI). RT PCR reactions were primed with E1 (Table) and the subsequent PCR using the Promega GoTaq[®] Green Polymerase Master Mix used primers S5 and SReturn to detect viral RNA. The same set of RT-PCR and PCR reactions were used for the cell lysate, media, and controls. A negative control using water and a positive control using pCMVT7r28 plasmid were cycled alongside the products from the transfection as well as an RT-PCR control with only water. The products from the S5/SReturn PCR were run on a 2.0% agarose gel alongside HiLo DNA ladder (Minnesota Molecular) and stained using SYBR[®] Safe DNA Gel Stain (Molecular Probes, Carlsbad, CA).



Image 3: The results from the S5/SReturn PCR used to identify TD57 and/or TD78. This gel verifies TD57 is present in culture.



Image 4: A secondary 6well plate created to show despite a successful transfection, TD57 fails to show CPE.

When dried, the plate was imaged above to show how wildtype virus created from the pCMVT7r28 showed cytopathic effect (CPE), whereas virus produced from TD50 and TD57 does not show CPE after three days of incubation despite being able to detect viral RNA via RT PCR.

<u>TD78</u>

The procedure for TD78 was similar to what was described above except the primers used for the initial creation of the fragment were TD78RIBOZ1, TD78RIBOZ2,

TD78RIBOZRETURN. After creating the TD78 mutant the same procedures and PCR reactions were run and visualized on a 2.0% agarose gel. The same negative and positive controls were included when transfecting TD78 and the results are shown below.



Image 5: Using equal amounts of reagent and input RNA, the above gel shows the results of the S5/SReturn PCR with TD78.



Image 6: The above image from a secondary 6-well plate, stained with crystal violet, shows that TD78 does not cause CPE.

Chapter 3: Discussion

In this study, we have constructed two novel plasmids. We found that when these plasmids were transcribed into RNA and transfected into a susceptible cell line, they were capable of generating encapsidated virus. Furthermore, we showed that the virus produced from these RNA transfections did not regenerate the 5' terminal deletions cloned into the starting plasmids. The overall structure formed by the 5' cloverleaf in enteroviruses is critical to efficient viral replication; continued replication despite the ability to form this structure could represent an alternate method used during viral replication or the current model of enteroviral replication is incomplete. It has been hypothesized by Smithee et al. that the alternate method is actually a randomized initiation event either by a lack of properly uridylylated VPg or an inability to form the three dimensional interaction between the 5' NTR and the CRE(2C) that provides the template for the addition of the two uridine residues [86].

Our initial hypothesis led with the assumption that the absolute minimal replication complex required for viability demanded that stemloop d in domain I remain intact. Our results herein show that this is not the case, but instead virus continues to replicate. This is an important distinction to make as the literature used to make our initial hypothesis believed that stemloop d was a critical structure to producing viable virus [87]. Based on our findings, we now know that the lack of stemloop d does not abolish the virus altogether.

The current literature believes that one of stemloop d's roles is the primary location for 3CD to bind. To explain the significance of this interaction, we must recall the formation of the ternary complex, where PCBP2 binds stemloop b, and 3CD binds the adjacent stemloop d. If stemloop b is removed, a secondary location has been shown to bind PCBP2 in its place: the stretch of cytosine residues directly following the opposite side of stem a [88]. An alternate binding location for 3CD has yet to be hypothesized, but formation of the ternary complex allows the 5' end of the viral genome to come into close proximity of the replication machinery bound to the CRE and the 3' poly A tail. With an altered location for 3CD to bind the 5' end of viral RNA, initiation is imperfect and cannot begin at the appropriate location let alone maintain the tertiary structure required to bring all necessary replicative proteins together. Subsequently, this type of replication argues a non-specific possibly random point of initiation, one where a uridylylated VPg is unnecessary. VPg must still be nucleotidylated [51] as it is the protein primer

required for 3D to begin polymerization, but the double uridine may be less important as Kim et al has shown that VPg (while still bound to the 5' end of genomes of TD viruses) would not have been uridylylated in priming these genomes [79].

We have shown that our mutated RNA is capable of producing virus and the end result still lacks the 5' end of the genome. This begs the question: how does the viral RNA continue to replicate enough of the genome to produce viable progeny? Further characterization of the mutated virus created herein and not addressed by this study would be necessary to fully verify the presence of both infectious viral particles and the encapsidated RNA. This could be accomplished by 1.) multiple passages demonstrating infectivity 2.) western blotting using antibodies specific to enterovirus to show capsid formation with enteroviral specificity 3.) reverse transcription PCR using various primers capable of polymerizing the 5' end before then sequencing the genome to look for changes. Assuming that the results mimic those shown in viruses lacking stem a, stemloop b, and stemloop c, the current replication model would need altering to account for the fact that 3CD has no place to bind and functionally attract the 3' end. A lack of the first 50 nucleotides of the viral genome has shown that positive strand replication is greatly affected, but not halted; this is thought to be because 3CD still has a location to bind to the 5' end and circularize the genome, but without the predicted location for 3CD to bind (as in TD78) it would seem that the genome either does not require circularization or 3CD has found a new point at which to bind.

The continued replication of viruses with deletions to the 5' end is not new. While the research and results herein is important, there is still much work to be done. Research in this field and particularly these viruses is extremely important as highlighted in Chapman et. al 2008 [19]. It is interesting to think that a human with dilated cardiomyopathy or acute myocarditis may not be accurately diagnosed until autopsy without specifically looking for terminally

deleted enteroviruses, since they replicate at such a low level, making them much harder to detect. How many cases, heart-related or enteroviral related do not screen for this possibility and therefore are diagnosed incompletely? Research into terminally deleted viruses and potential sources of vaccination should be explored more fully.

References

- 1. Caro, V., et al., *Molecular strategy for 'serotyping' of human enteroviruses*. J Gen Virol, 2001. **82**(Pt 1): p. 79-91.
- Oberste, M.S., et al., Molecular evolution of the human enteroviruses: correlation of serotype with VP1 sequence and application to picornavirus classification. J Virol, 1999.
 73(3): p. 1941-8.
- 3. Palacios, G., et al., *Molecular identification of enterovirus by analyzing a partial VP1 genomic region with different methods.* J Clin Microbiol, 2002. **40**(1): p. 182-92.
- Pallansch, M.A., Oberste, M.S., Whitton, J.L., *Enteroviruses: Polioviruses, Coxsackieviruses, Echoviruses, and Newer Enteroviruses,* in *Fields Virology,* H. Knipe D.M., P.M., Editor. 2013, Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins Health: Philadelphia, PA. p. 490-530.
- 5. Racaniello, V.R., *Picornaviradae: Viruses and their replication*, in *Fields Virology*, D.M. Knipe, Howley, P.M., Editor. 2013, Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins Health: Philadelphia, PA. p. 453-489.
- 6. Rossmann, M.G., *The canyon hypothesis. Hiding the host cell receptor attachment site on a viral surface from immune surveillance.* J Biol Chem, 1989. **264**(25): p. 14587-90.
- 7. Moore, M., et al., *Epidemiologic, clinical, and laboratory features of Coxsackie B1-B5 infections in the United States, 1970-79.* Public Health Rep, 1984. **99**(5): p. 515-22.
- 8. Woodruff, J.F., *Viral myocarditis. A review.* Am J Pathol, 1980. **101**(2): p. 425-84.
- 9. Fairweather, D., K.A. Stafford, and Y.K. Sung, *Update on coxsackievirus B3 myocarditis*. Curr Opin Rheumatol, 2012. **24**(4): p. 401-7.
- Rotbart, H.A., *Enteroviral infections of the central nervous system*. Clin Infect Dis, 1995.
 20(4): p. 971-81.
- 11. Muehlenbachs, A., J. Bhatnagar, and S.R. Zaki, *Tissue tropism, pathology and pathogenesis of enterovirus infection.* J Pathol, 2015. **235**(2): p. 217-28.
- 12. Schiff, G.M., *Coxsackievirus B epidemic at a boys' camp.* Am J Dis Child, 1979. **133**(8): p. 782-5.
- 13. Alexander, J.P., Jr., et al., *Coxsackievirus B2 infection and aseptic meningitis: a focal outbreak among members of a high school football team.* J Infect Dis, 1993. **167**(5): p. 1201-5.
- 14. De Jesus, N.H., *Epidemics to eradication: the modern history of poliomyelitis.* Virol J, 2007. **4**: p. 70.
- 15. Nathanson, N. and O.M. Kew, *From emergence to eradication: the epidemiology of poliomyelitis deconstructed.* Am J Epidemiol, 2010. **172**(11): p. 1213-29.
- 16. Landsteiner, K.a.E.P., *Mikroscopische Praparate von einem Menschlichen und zwei Affenruckemarken.* Wein Klin, 1908. **21**(1830).
- 17. *Our Progress Against Polio.* 2014.

- 18. National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, D.o.V.D., *Outbreaks of Various Non-Polio Enteroviruses*. 2015.
- Chapman, N.M. and K.S. Kim, Persistent coxsackievirus infection: enterovirus persistence in chronic myocarditis and dilated cardiomyopathy. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 2008.
 323: p. 275-92.
- 20. Baboonian, C. and T. Treasure, *Meta-analysis of the association of enteroviruses with human heart disease*. Heart, 1997. **78**(6): p. 539-43.
- 21. Spotnitz, M.D. and M. Lesch, *Idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy as a late complication of healed viral (Coxsackie B virus) myocarditis: historical analysis, review of the literature, and a postulated unifying hypothesis.* Prog Cardiovasc Dis, 2006. **49**(1): p. 42-57.
- 22. Staunton, D.E., et al., *A cell adhesion molecule, ICAM-1, is the major surface receptor for rhinoviruses.* Cell, 1989. **56**(5): p. 849-53.
- 23. Greve, J.M., et al., *The major human rhinovirus receptor is ICAM-1*. Cell, 1989. **56**(5): p. 839-47.
- 24. Hewat, E.A., et al., *The cellular receptor to human rhinovirus 2 binds around the 5-fold axis and not in the canyon: a structural view.* Embo j, 2000. **19**(23): p. 6317-25.
- 25. Coyne, C.B. and J.M. Bergelson, *Virus-induced Abl and Fyn kinase signals permit coxsackievirus entry through epithelial tight junctions.* Cell, 2006. **124**(1): p. 119-31.
- 26. Carson, S.D., et al., Variations of coxsackievirus B3 capsid primary structure, ligands, and stability are selected for in a coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor-limited environment. J Virol, 2011. **85**(7): p. 3306-14.
- 27. Shafren, D.R., et al., *Coxsackieviruses B1, B3, and B5 use decay accelerating factor as a receptor for cell attachment.* J Virol, 1995. **69**(6): p. 3873-7.
- 28. He, Y., et al., *Interaction of the poliovirus receptor with poliovirus*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2000. **97**(1): p. 79-84.
- 29. Crowell, R.L. and L. Philipson, *Specific alterations of coxsackievirus B3 eluted from HeLa cells.* J Virol, 1971. **8**(4): p. 509-15.
- 30. Huang, Y., J.M. Hogle, and M. Chow, *Is the 135S poliovirus particle an intermediate during cell entry?* J Virol, 2000. **74**(18): p. 8757-61.
- 31. Chung, S.K., et al., *Internalization and trafficking mechanisms of coxsackievirus B3 in HeLa cells.* Virology, 2005. **333**(1): p. 31-40.
- 32. Triantafilou, K. and M. Triantafilou, *Coxsackievirus B4-induced cytokine production in pancreatic cells is mediated through toll-like receptor 4.* J Virol, 2004. **78**(20): p. 11313-20.
- 33. Danthi, P., et al., *Genome delivery and ion channel properties are altered in VP4 mutants of poliovirus.* J Virol, 2003. **77**(9): p. 5266-74.
- Panjwani, A., et al., Capsid protein VP4 of human rhinovirus induces membrane permeability by the formation of a size-selective multimeric pore. PLoS Pathog, 2014.
 10(8): p. e1004294.
- 35. Shukla, A., et al., *The VP4 peptide of hepatitis A virus ruptures membranes through formation of discrete pores*. J Virol, 2014. **88**(21): p. 12409-21.
- 36. Didier Hober, F.S., Karena Riedweg, Ilham Moumna, Anne Goffard, Laura Choteau, Enagnon Kazali Alidjinou and Rachel Desailloud, *Viruses and Type 1 Diabetes: Focus on the Enteroviruses, Type 1 Diabetes*, ed. D.A. Escher. 2013.
- 37. Toyoda, H., et al., *A second virus-encoded proteinase involved in proteolytic processing of poliovirus polyprotein.* Cell, 1986. **45**(5): p. 761-70.
- 38. Lloyd, R.E., *Translational control by viral proteinases*. Virus Res, 2006. **119**(1): p. 76-88.

- 39. Van kuppeveld, F.J., et al., *Structure-function analysis of coxsackie B3 virus protein 2B.* Virology, 1997. **227**(1): p. 111-8.
- 40. Teterina, N.L., et al., *Poliovirus 2C protein determinants of membrane binding and rearrangements in mammalian cells.* J Virol, 1997. **71**(12): p. 8962-72.
- 41. Xia, H., et al., *Human Enterovirus Nonstructural Protein 2CATPase Functions as Both an RNA Helicase and ATP-Independent RNA Chaperone.* PLoS Pathog, 2015. **11**(7): p. e1005067.
- 42. Wang, C., et al., Alanine scanning of poliovirus 2CATPase reveals new genetic evidence that capsid protein/2CATPase interactions are essential for morphogenesis. J Virol, 2012. **86**(18): p. 9964-75.
- 43. Plotch, S.J. and O. Palant, *Poliovirus protein 3AB forms a complex with and stimulates the activity of the viral RNA polymerase, 3Dpol.* J Virol, 1995. **69**(11): p. 7169-79.
- 44. Lama, J., et al., *Properties of purified recombinant poliovirus protein 3aB as substrate for viral proteinases and as co-factor for RNA polymerase 3Dpol.* J Biol Chem, 1994. **269**(1): p. 66-70.
- 45. Richards, O.C. and E. Ehrenfeld, *Effects of poliovirus 3AB protein on 3D polymerase-catalyzed reaction.* J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**(21): p. 12832-40.
- 46. Jore, J., et al., *Poliovirus protein 3CD is the active protease for processing of the precursor protein P1 in vitro.* J Gen Virol, 1988. **69 (Pt 7)**: p. 1627-36.
- 47. Ypma-Wong, M.F., et al., *Protein 3CD is the major poliovirus proteinase responsible for cleavage of the P1 capsid precursor.* Virology, 1988. **166**(1): p. 265-70.
- 48. Cornell, C.T., et al., *Inhibition of protein trafficking by coxsackievirus b3: multiple viral proteins target a single organelle*. J Virol, 2006. **80**(13): p. 6637-47.
- 49. Doedens, J.R. and K. Kirkegaard, *Inhibition of cellular protein secretion by poliovirus proteins 2B and 3A.* Embo j, 1995. **14**(5): p. 894-907.
- 50. Sandoval, I.V. and L. Carrasco, *Poliovirus infection and expression of the poliovirus protein 2B provoke the disassembly of the Golgi complex, the organelle target for the antipoliovirus drug Ro-090179.* J Virol, 1997. **71**(6): p. 4679-93.
- 51. Paul, A.V., et al., *A "slide-back" mechanism for the initiation of protein-primed RNA synthesis by the RNA polymerase of poliovirus.* J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(45): p. 43951-60.
- 52. Liu, Y., E. Wimmer, and A.V. Paul, *Cis-acting RNA elements in human and animal plusstrand RNA viruses.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2009. **1789**(9-10): p. 495-517.
- 53. Thompson, A.A. and O.B. Peersen, *Structural basis for proteolysis-dependent activation of the poliovirus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase*. Vol. 23. 2004. 3462-3471.
- 54. Sun, Y., et al., *Enterovirus 71 VPg Uridylation Uses a Two-Molecular Mechanism of 3D Polymerase.* Journal of Virology, 2012. **86**(24): p. 13662-13671.
- 55. Van Dyke, T.A. and J.B. Flanegan, *Identification of poliovirus polypeptide P63 as a soluble RNA-dependent RNA polymerase.* J Virol, 1980. **35**(3): p. 732-40.
- 56. Paul, A.V. and E. Wimmer, *Initiation of protein-primed picornavirus RNA synthesis*. Virus Res, 2015.
- 57. Hansen, J.L., A.M. Long, and S.C. Schultz, *Structure of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase of poliovirus*. Structure, 1997. **5**(8): p. 1109-22.
- 58. Gong, P., et al., *Structures of coxsackievirus, rhinovirus, and poliovirus polymerase elongation complexes solved by engineering RNA mediated crystal contacts.* PLoS One, 2013. **8**(5): p. e60272.
- 59. Gong, P. and O.B. Peersen, *Structural basis for active site closure by the poliovirus RNAdependent RNA polymerase.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. **107**(52): p. 22505-10.

- 60. Lescar, J. and B. Canard, *RNA-dependent RNA polymerases from flaviviruses and Picornaviridae*. Curr Opin Struct Biol, 2009. **19**(6): p. 759-67.
- 61. Parsley, T.B., et al., *Poly (rC) binding protein 2 forms a ternary complex with the 5'terminal sequences of poliovirus RNA and the viral 3CD proteinase.* Rna, 1997. **3**(10): p. 1124-34.
- 62. Gamarnik, A.V. and R. Andino, *Two functional complexes formed by KH domain containing proteins with the 5' noncoding region of poliovirus RNA*. Rna, 1997. **3**(8): p. 882-92.
- 63. Andino, R., et al., *Poliovirus RNA synthesis utilizes an RNP complex formed around the 5'end of viral RNA.* Embo j, 1993. **12**(9): p. 3587-98.
- 64. Gamarnik, A.V. and R. Andino, *Switch from translation to RNA replication in a positive-stranded RNA virus.* Genes Dev, 1998. **12**(15): p. 2293-304.
- 65. Baltimore, D., M. Girard, and J.E. Darnell, *Aspects of the synthesis of poliovirus RNA and the formation of virus particles.* Virology, 1966. **29**(2): p. 179-89.
- 66. Paul, A.V., et al., *Identification of an RNA hairpin in poliovirus RNA that serves as the primary template in the in vitro uridylylation of VPg.* J Virol, 2000. **74**(22): p. 10359-70.
- 67. Cho, M.W., et al., *RNA duplex unwinding activity of poliovirus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase 3Dpol.* J Virol, 1993. **67**(6): p. 3010-8.
- 68. Novak, J.E. and K. Kirkegaard, *Improved method for detecting poliovirus negative strands used to demonstrate specificity of positive-strand encapsidation and the ratio of positive to negative strands in infected cells.* J Virol, 1991. **65**(6): p. 3384-7.
- 69. Giachetti, C. and B.L. Semler, *Role of a viral membrane polypeptide in strand-specific initiation of poliovirus RNA synthesis.* J Virol, 1991. **65**(5): p. 2647-54.
- Chapman, N.M., C. J. Gauntt, and S. Tracy, *Immunology of the coxsackieviruses*, in *Molecular biology of picornaviruses*, B.L.S.a.E. Wimmer, Editor. 2002, ASM Press: Washington, D.C. p. p. 391–403.
- 71. Andreoletti, L., et al., *Enteroviruses can persist with or without active viral replication in cardiac tissue of patients with end-stage ischemic or dilated cardiomyopathy.* J Infect Dis, 2000. **182**(4): p. 1222-7.
- 72. Why, H.J., et al., *Clinical and prognostic significance of detection of enteroviral RNA in the myocardium of patients with myocarditis or dilated cardiomyopathy.* Circulation, 1994. **89**(6): p. 2582-9.
- 73. Li, Y., et al., *Enteroviral capsid protein VP1 is present in myocardial tissues from some patients with myocarditis or dilated cardiomyopathy.* Circulation, 2000. **101**(3): p. 231-4.
- Pauschinger, M., et al., Enteroviral RNA replication in the myocardium of patients with left ventricular dysfunction and clinically suspected myocarditis. Circulation, 1999. 99(7): p. 889-95.
- 75. Mena, I., et al., *The role of B lymphocytes in coxsackievirus B3 infection*. Am J Pathol, 1999. **155**(4): p. 1205-15.
- 76. Tam, P.E. and R.P. Messner, Molecular mechanisms of coxsackievirus persistence in chronic inflammatory myopathy: viral RNA persists through formation of a double-stranded complex without associated genomic mutations or evolution. J Virol, 1999. 73(12): p. 10113-21.
- 77. Reetoo, K.N., et al., *Quantitative analysis of viral RNA kinetics in coxsackievirus B3-induced murine myocarditis: biphasic pattern of clearance following acute infection, with persistence of residual viral RNA throughout and beyond the inflammatory phase of disease.* J Gen Virol, 2000. **81**(Pt 11): p. 2755-62.

- 78. McManus, B.M., et al., *Progress and challenges in the pathological diagnosis of myocarditis.* Eur Heart J, 1991. **12 Suppl D**: p. 18-21.
- 79. Kim, K.S., et al., 5'-Terminal deletions occur in coxsackievirus B3 during replication in murine hearts and cardiac myocyte cultures and correlate with encapsidation of negative-strand viral RNA. J Virol, 2005. **79**(11): p. 7024-41.
- 80. Bailey, J.M. and W.E. Tapprich, *Structure of the 5' nontranslated region of the coxsackievirus b3 genome: Chemical modification and comparative sequence analysis.* J Virol, 2007. **81**(2): p. 650-68.
- 81. Tracy, S., et al., Toward testing the hypothesis that group B coxsackieviruses (CVB) trigger insulin-dependent diabetes: inoculating nonobese diabetic mice with CVB markedly lowers diabetes incidence. J Virol, 2002. **76**(23): p. 12097-111.
- 82. Chapman, N.M., et al., 5' terminal deletions in the genome of a coxsackievirus B2 strain occurred naturally in human heart. Virology, 2008. **375**(2): p. 480-91.
- 83. Lee, C.K., et al., *Characterization of an infectious cDNA copy of the genome of a naturally occurring, avirulent coxsackievirus B3 clinical isolate.* J Gen Virol, 2005. **86**(Pt 1): p. 197-210.
- 84. Sharma, N., et al., *Functional role of the 5' terminal cloverleaf in Coxsackievirus RNA replication.* Virology, 2009. **393**(2): p. 238-49.
- 85. Gamarnik, A.V. and R. Andino, *Interactions of viral protein 3CD and poly(rC) binding protein with the 5' untranslated region of the poliovirus genome.* J Virol, 2000. **74**(5): p. 2219-26.
- Smithee, S., S. Tracy, and N.M. Chapman, *Mutational Disruption of cis-Acting Replication Element 2C in Coxsackievirus B3 Leads to 5'-Terminal Genomic Deletions.* J Virol, 2015.
 89(23): p. 11761-72.
- 87. Hunziker, I.P., C.T. Cornell, and J.L. Whitton, *Deletions within the 5'UTR of coxsackievirus B3: consequences for virus translation and replication*. Virology, 2007. **360**(1): p. 120-8.
- 88. Makeyev, A.V. and S.A. Liebhaber, *The poly(C)-binding proteins: a multiplicity of functions and a search for mechanisms.* RNA, 2002. **8**(3): p. 265-78.